IN THE FLORIDA SUPREME COURT

CASE NO.: SC01-731 LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 3D00-818

FLORIDA CONVALESCENT CENTERS, INC. d/b/a PALM GARDEN OF NORTH MIAMI BEACH,

Petitioner/Appellant

VS.

REED B. SOMBERG, as Personal Representative of the Estate of IRVING ELLIS, Deceased,

Respondent/Appellee

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

INITIAL BRIEF ON THE MERITS AND ON JURISDICTION

Louise H. McMurray, Esq. Carmen Y. Cartaya, Esq. MCINTOSH, SAWRAN, PELTZ, & CARTAYA, P.A. Biscayne Building, Suite 920 19 West Flagler Street Miami, Florida 33130-4410 Phone: (305) 381-8922 Fax: (305) 381-6889

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

This discretionary review arises from a certification of conflict by the Third District Court of Appeal in a decision vacating a final judgment entered in favor of FLORIDA CONVALESCENT CENTERS, INC. d/b/a PALM GARDEN OF NORTH MIAMI BEACH (hereafter Petitioner/Appellant), a nursing home. The certified conflict was as to the construction placed upon § 400.023, Fla. Stat., by the Third District in the instant decision, and by the Fourth District in <u>First Healthcare Corp. v.</u> <u>Hamilton</u>, 747 So. 2d 1189 (Fla. 4th DCA), <u>rev. dismissed</u>, 743 So. 2d 12 (Fla. 1999). The Fifth District Court of Appeal is also in conflict with the Fourth District, as appears in its decision in <u>Beverly Enterprises Florida</u>, Inc. v. Spilman, 661 So.2d 867 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), <u>rev.denied</u>, 668 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1996).

The Fourth District Court of Appeal has construed § 400.023, Fla. Stat., as creating a right of action under the Wrongful Death Act, § 768.16, <u>et. seq.</u>, Fla. Stat., and subject to its measure of damages, § 768.21, Fla. Stat. <u>Id</u>. The Third and Fifth District Courts of Appeal have construed that same statute as providing an independent type of wrongful death action with a new and independent measure of damages. The facts of the case are as follows:¹

¹The Record will be "R". Plaintiff REED B. SOMBERG, as Personal Representative of the Estate of IRVING ELLIS, Deceased, will be Plaintiff or

The complaint alleged a violation of Chapter 400 that did, and alternatively did not, cause Plaintiff's decedent's death. The complaint also included a negligence survival claim and a negligence wrongful death claim. R.2-16; R. 33-54. Petitioner/Appellant moved for partial summary judgment based on the Fourth District Court of Appeal's decision in First Healthcare Corp. v. Hamilton, supra, which explicitly limited the damages permissible under § 400.023, Fla. Stat., to those recoverable pursuant to Florida's Wrongful Death Act. R. 105-108. In response, Respondent/Appellee urged the trial court to follow the Fifth District Court of Appeal's holding in Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc. v. Spilman, supra, which construed § 400.023, Fla. Stat., as creating a new cause of action for wrongful death independent of the Wrongful Death Act and permitting recovery for the decedent's pre-death pain and suffering. R. 113-125. The trial judge adopted the reasoning of the Fourth District and granted the Motion for Partial Summary Judgment.

Petitioner/Appellant then moved for partial summary judgment on the wrongful death claim, contending that § 768.21(8), Fla. Stat., limits damages recoverable by adult children when a death is caused by medical negligence.² R. 148-151.

[&]quot;Respondent/Appellee". The Appendix will be referred to as "App." All emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.

²This Court found those limitations to be constitutional in <u>Mizrahi v. North</u> <u>Miami Medical Center, Ltd.</u>, 761So. 2d. 1040 (Fla. 2000).

Respondent/Appellee then dismissed all other claims with prejudice in order to perfect an appeal, notwithstanding that the survival claim was still viable under <u>Greenfield v. Manor Care, Inc.</u>, 705 So. 2d 926 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997).³ R. 156. A final judgment appears at R. 161.

On appeal to the Third District, Respondent/Appellee again argued that the Fifth District's construction of § 400.023 as being unrelated and independent of the Wrongful Death Act was correct and the Fourth District's construction was in error. The Third District agreed and issued the decision which is the subject of this review. In following the Fifth District, the court nevertheless certified conflict with the Fourth District in order to facilitate discretionary review in this Court.

Petitioner/Appellant timely filed a notice to invoke discretionary jurisdiction. This Court entered an order delaying a decision on jurisdiction and directing the filing of briefs on the merits.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This Court has discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of district courts that are in conflict. Article 5, § 3(b), Florida Constitution (1980); Rule

³The Fourth District Court of Appeals has recently overruled its stance on this issue in its recent decision in <u>Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc. v. Knowles</u>, 766 So. 2d 335, (Fla. 4th DCA 2000). See, discussion and note 5, infra, at 11. That case is now pending in this Court

9.030(a)(2)(A)(iv) and (vi), Fla. R. App. P. Because express and direct conflicts exists among the three districts and because the Third District certified that conflict, this Court has jurisdiction over this proceeding. This Court should exercise that jurisdiction because the issue upon which the districts conflict is one of great importance to the public and to nursing homes and their residents.

Although Petitioner/Appellant does not believe that resort to the legislative history is appropriate or necessary to ascertain the intent of this clear statutory provision, the result is the same whether that history is considered or not. The Third District's decision erroneously construes both the statute and its history as intending to create a cause of action independent of and unrelated to the Wrongful Death Act. To the contrary, the purpose of the original enactment of § 400.023 was to create a private right of action for residents where one did not otherwise exist under the Wrongful Death Act. Amendment to include a right of action for the personal representative expanded a narrowly defined private right of action and made the Wrongful Death Act available for the first time.

<u>Hamilton</u>, <u>supra</u>, correctly recognized the interplay between the two statutes. The Third District Court of Appeal in the instant case, and the Fifth District Court of Appeal in <u>Spilman</u>, <u>supra</u>, failed to apply the basic precepts of statutory construction. They created ambiguity where the statute was clear on its face, then resorted improperly to legislative history to expand the damages recoverable by a personal representative of the estate of a nursing home resident beyond any recoverable by any other victim of any other wrongful act, no matter the heinous nature of the conduct leading to that death.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON REVIEW

Petitioner/Appellant submits two issues for resolution:

- I. WHETHER THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION OVER THIS PROCEEDING AND SHOULD EXERCISE IT FOR THE PURPOSE OF RESOLVING INTER-DISTRICT CONFLICT?
- II. WHETHER § 400.023, FLA. STAT., CREATES A PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION THAT IS TO BE READ *IN PARI MATERIA* WITH THE WRONGFUL DEATH STATUTE?

ARGUMENT

For the reasons that follow, Petitioner/Appellant submits that this Court should exercise its discretionary jurisdiction for the purpose of resolving the inter-district conflict regarding the correct construction of § 400.023, Fla. Stat. Because the substantive issue presented is a pure question of law regarding the proper application of a statutory provision, this Court reviews the issue de novo. <u>Volusia County v.</u> Aberdeen at Ormond Beach, L.P., 760 So.2d 126 (Fla. 2000); Execu-Tech Business

<u>Systems, Inc. v. New Oji Paper Company Ltd.</u>, 752 So.2d 582 (Fla. 2000); <u>Racetrac</u> <u>Petroleum, Inc. v. Delco Oil, Inc.</u>, 721 So.2d 376 (Fla. 5th DCA 1998).

This Court should quash the instant decision that reversed the judgment entered in the trial court and should approve the holding of the Fourth District Court of Appeals in <u>Hamilton</u>.

I. <u>THIS COURT HAS DISCRETIONARY</u> JURISDICTION AND SHOULD EXERCISE IT <u>TO RESOLVE IMPORTANT INTER-</u> <u>DISTRICT CONFLICT.</u>

Article 5, § 3(b), Florida Constitution, gives this Court the discretionary jurisdiction to review decisions of district courts of appeal that conflict with each other on the same point of law. The three decisions referenced <u>supra</u> undeniably conflict with each other. The result of the conflict is that personal representatives in some jurisdictions are currently able to claim different elements of damage and, potentially, pain and suffering damages far in excess of those elements of damage available in other jurisdictions. The potential exposure of defendants in those jurisdictions, whether they be ultimately morally culpable, simply technically responsible, or entirely innocent, vastly increases the pressure to settle even defensible cases.

By contrast, those personal representatives whose actions would otherwise be filed in the more restrictive districts have every incentive now to forum shop if at all possible. If forum shopping is not possible under the venue statutes, those parties undeniably are pinning their hopes on a reversal of their controlling decisions by this Court.

Thus, because the issue is of such importance to the public and to nursing homes and their residents, this conflict should be resolved.

II. § 400.023, Fla. Stat., CREATES A PERSONAL REPRESENTATIVE'S PRIVATE RIGHT OF ACTION FOR WRONGFUL DEATH THAT DID NOT OTHERWISE EXIST AND IS TO BE READ IN PARI MATERIA WITH THE WRONGFUL DEATH STATUTE, WHICH SPECIFIES THE DAMAGES THAT CAN BE RECOVERED AND FOR WHOSE BENEFIT.

A. <u>The Nature of Chapter 400:</u>

Chapter 400, Fla. Stat., is a comprehensive licensing and regulatory statute created to govern nursing homes and related health care facilities. It creates new duties, rights, and remedies that did not exist at common law. It requires licensing of every nursing home facility and makes each licensee subject to the administrative oversight of a state agency. § 400.062, Fla. Stat. It authorizes the agency to take action against the licensee in the event of enumerated conditions, including negligence

that materially affects the health of residents. § 400.102, Fla. Stat. It establishes a Resident Protection Trust Fund in order to fund transfer of nursing home residents when a nursing home is determined to threaten immediate danger to the health, safety, or security of residents. § 400.063, Fla. Stat. It requires the formation of an early warning system overseeing nursing homes to detect conditions that could be detrimental to the residents. § 400.118, Fla. Stat. It provides administrative penalties, including revocation or suspension of the license, fines, orders to increase staffing, and imposition of a moratorium on admissions. § 400.121, Fla. Stat. The agency is also authorized to obtain injunctive relief. § 400.125., Fla. Stat. § 400.022, Fla. Stat. also creates certain enumerated "rights" for residents. These rights include participation in the administrative enforcement system:

> The right to present grievances on behalf of himself or herself or others to the staff or administrator of the facility, to governmental officials, or to any other person; to recommend changes in policies and services to facility personnel; and to join with other residents of individuals within or outside the facility to work for improvements in resident care, free from restraint, interference, coercion, discrimination, or reprisal. **This right includes access to ombudsmen and advocates and the right to be a member of, to be active in, and to associate with advocacy or special interest groups.** The right also includes the right to prompt efforts by the facility to resolve resident grievances, including grievances with respect to the behavior of other residents.

§ 400.022(d). In a separate provision, Chapter 400 gives certain enumerated persons a right of action for violation of § 400.022. § 400.023, Fla. Stat.

400.021(10), Fla. Stat., incorporates § 400.0069, Fla. Stat., which requires the creation of the State Long-Term Care Ombudsman Council. That Council is authorized to receive complaints, to investigate them, to represent the resident making the complaint before governmental agencies and to seek administrative remedies to protect the resident. § 400.0069(c)(f), Fla. Stat. The nursing home statute specifically gives the resident unrestricted access to a representative of the Council and gives the Council the right to examine the resident's clinical records with the resident's consent and consistent with state law. § 400.022(c), Fla. Stat.

B. <u>The Pertinent Principles of Statutory Application and</u> <u>Construction:</u>

It is axiomatic that the extent to which a statute changes the common law is only the extent to which the statute clearly and explicitly says so:

> The presumption is that **no change in the common law is intended unless the statute is explicit and clear in that regard.** Unless a statute unequivocally states that it changes the common law, or is so repugnant to the common law that the two cannot coexist, the statute will not be held to have changed the law.

<u>State v. Ashley</u>, 701 So.2d 338, 341 (Fla. 1997), quoting, <u>Thornber v. City of Walton</u> <u>Beach</u>, 568 So.2d 914, 918 (Fla. 1990).

It is also axiomatic that mention of specific matters excludes those matters not mentioned, pursuant to expressio unius est exclusio alterius. Dobbs v. Sea Isle Hotel, 56 So.2d 341 (Fla. 1952). This familiar axiom applies to statutes which create a right and then also supply a remedy for violation of that right. Where a remedy is conferred by statute, it ordinarily excludes any other remedy. Transamerica Mortgage Advisors, Inc. v. Lewis, 444 U.S. 11, 19 - 20, 100 S.Ct. 242, 247, 62 L.Ed.2d 146 (1979); Dorman v. Jacksonville, 13 Fla. 538 (1870); State v. Barquet, 358 So.2d 230 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1978). The right conferred is subject to any limitations expressed in the statute. Smitz v. Wright, 64 Fla. 485, 60 So. 225 (1912). A remedy conferred by statute can be invoked only to the extent and in the manner prescribed. <u>Gunn v. Robles</u>, 100 Fla. 816, 130 So. 463 (1930). Accord, City of Miami v. Cosgrove, 516 So.2d 1125 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1987). The Third District noted in <u>Cosgrove</u> that the rule is particularly true where the statute, as here, creates a new right⁴. 516 So.2d at 1127.

Further, statutes that relate to the same person, thing, or subject are regarded *in pari materia*. <u>Willis v. Morgan</u>, 176 So.2d 73 (Fla. 1965); <u>Okaloosa County Water</u> & Sewer Dist. V. Hilburn, 160 So.2d 43 (Fla. 1964).

⁴Thus, for example, the creation of liability for personal injury resulting in death extends only to the benefit of those persons specified in the statute and only for the specified damages. <u>Flanders v. Georgia S. & F.R. Co.</u>, 68 Fla. 479, 484, 67 So. 68, 69 (1914).

C. <u>Applying These Principles to Chapter 400:</u>

In the instant case, it is unnecessary to address the legislative history to determine that the plain words of § 400.022 and § 400.023, Fla. Stat., create new rights and remedies that did not exist at common law, but which are limited by their terms. See, Acosta v. Richter, 671 So. 2d 149 (Fla. 1996)(the polestar of statutory construction is the plain meaning of the statute itself). The legislative history of a statute is irrelevant where the wording of a statute is clear. See, e.g., Aetna Cas. & Sur. Co. v. Huntington Nat'l. Bank, 609 So. 2d 1315, 1317 (Fla. 1992); Suwannee River Water Management Dist. v. Pearson, 697 So. 2d 1224, 1226 (Fla. 1st DCA 1997). The plain terms govern the application of the statute and no judicial interpretation is necessary:

In matters requiring statutory construction, courts always seek to effectuate legislative intent. Where the words selected by the Legislature are clear and unambiguous, however, judicial interpretation is not appropriate to displace the expressed intent. Foley v. State ex rel. Gordon, 50 So. 2d 179, 184 (Fla. 1951); Platt v. Lanier, 127 So.2d 912, 913 (Fla. 2d DCA 1961). It is neither the function nor prerogative of the courts to speculate on constructions more or less reasonable, when the language itself conveys an unequivocal meaning.

Heredia v. Allstate Ins. Co., 358 So.2d 1353 (Fla. 1978).

§ 400.022, Fla. Stat., creates new rights for nursing home residents that did not exist at common law. Rights of enforcement are contained within the same section establishing those rights. However, those rights of enforcement are solely through the administrative oversight of the agency and the Ombudsman Council. § 400.022 does not create a private right of civil action in a court of law. Absent the specific provisions of § 400.023, § 400.022 permits entry into the regulatory and enforcement framework for residents **only** through the administrative processes of the Ombudsman Council. Under the axiom *expressio unius est exclusio alterius*, the administrative remedy contained within § 400.022 excludes a right to file a civil lawsuit.

§ 400.023 thus creates an additional remedy for certain persons that would otherwise not exist, either at common law or by the terms of 400.022. § 400.023 provides that certain persons have standing to assert a private right of civil action under the statute: residents themselves or through a guardian, and the personal representative, but only when the violation of the statute caused the resident's death.

Unless § 400.023 clearly specified that a personal representative had standing to sue, that is, had the personal representative not been enumerated as a person with standing to allege a violation of 400.022, there would otherwise have been no right of action for wrongful death at all. <u>Dorman, supra; Gunn, supra; Cosgrove, supra;</u> <u>Smitz, supra</u>.

Under all of the principles mentioned above, these clear terms permit, for the first time, a personal representative of a deceased resident to bring a wrongful death action when the violation of § 400.022 caused the death. Keeping in mind that the common law did not permit an action for wrongful death at all, § 400.023 does no more in derogation of that common law that it specifically expresses. Ady v. American Honda Finance Corp., 675 So. 2d 577, 581 (Fla. 1996)("statute in derogation of common law must be strictly construed"). There was no remedy and there were no damages recoverable at common loaw.

Enter the Wrongful Death Act, with which § 400.023 must be read *in pari materia*.

The common law did not allow recovery for "the negligent or wrongful death of another." <u>Louisville & N.R. Co. v. Jones</u>, 45 Fla. 407, 414, 34 So. 246, 248 (Fla. 1903). The Florida Legislature created this remedy by enacting § 768.16, <u>et. seq</u>. <u>Jones, supra; Florida East Coast Ry. Co. v. Hayes</u>, 67 Fla. 101, 64 So. 504 (Fla. 1914). However, as recognized by the Supreme Court of Florida in <u>Hayes</u>, supra, 67 Fla. 101, 105, 64 So 504, 505:

The object of the statute giving the right of action is compensation to those who have sustained damages or loss by reason of the death of a person caused by the fault of another. See, § 768.17, Fla. Stat.

Being also a statute in derogation of the common law, the Wrongful Death Act must also be applied only to the extent and in the conditions and terms expressed within the act:

> [b]ecause wrongful death actions did not exist at common law, all claims for wrongful death are created **and limited** by Florida's Wrongful Death Act.

<u>Cinghina v. Racik</u>, 647 So.2d 289, 290 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994). § 768.20, Fla. Stat., expressly precludes claims for pain and suffering. <u>Metropolitan Life Ins. v.</u> <u>McCarson</u>, 429 So.2d 1287, 1291 (Fla. 4th DCA 1983), <u>modified</u>, 467 So.2d 277 (Fla. 1985). This court has sustained and affirmed the "unmistakable legislative intent" of

the Act as shifting the recovery for death from the dead to the living:

The claim for pain and suffering of the decedent from the date of injury to the decedent was eliminated. Substituted therefore was a claim for pain and suffering of close relatives, the clear purpose being that any recovery should be for the living and not for the dead.

Martin v. United Security Services, Inc., 314 So.2d 765, 767 (Fla. 1975).

Thus, when common law negligence causes the death of a nursing home resident (rather than a technical violation of § 400.022), damages for pain and suffering are precluded by the Wrongful Death Act. <u>Arthur v. Unicare Health</u>

<u>Facilities, Inc.</u>, 602 So.2d 596, 598 n.1 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1992), <u>rev</u>. <u>denied</u>, 613 So.2d 4 (Fla. 1992).⁵

Had the legislature intended to change the common law **or** to circumvent the application of the Florida Wrongful Death Act and permit the personal representative to recover for pre-death pain and suffering, the law requires the Legislature to have explicitly said so. <u>Ashley</u>, <u>supra</u>.

However, § 400.023 does **not** expressly change or repudiate the "actual damages" that are recoverable under the Wrongful Death Act. It does **not** expressly change or repudiate the persons who are survivors under the Wrongful Death Act. Accordingly, reading the two statutes *in pari materia*, and affording them their plain and ordinary meaning, § 400.023 gives the personal representative the standing and the right to file a civil action under the Wrongful Death Act.

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