IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC01-731

FLORIDA CONVALESCENT CENTERS, INC. d/b/a PALM GARDEN OF NORTH MIAMI BEACH,

Petitioner/Appellant,

3DCA CASE NO. 3D00-818

VS.

REED B. SOMBERG, as Personal Representative of the Estate of IRVING ELLIS, Deceased,

•

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE THIRD DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

DOUGLAS F. EATON of FORD & SINCLAIR, P.A. Datran II, Penthouse 1-C 9130 S. Dadeland Boulevard Miami, Florida 33156 (305) 670-2000 / Fax (305) 670-1353

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

The focus of this appeal is not whether the 1986 amendment created a new cause of action for personal representatives. That much is clear. What is unclear is what damages are recoverable by the personal representative of the estate: the actual damages (i.e., pain and suffering) of the resident or the same wrongful death damages available to the personal representative prior to the 1986 amendment.

We find it ironic that petitioner relies heavily on legislative history to support its argument, an approach the *Hamilton* court specifically prohibited.

A. The Purpose Behind Chapter 400

In order to understand the rationale behind the 1986 amendment and for allowing recovery of pre-death pain and suffering, it is important to examine the formation and development of Chapter 400, Fla. Stat., and the subsequent case law interpreting it.

The nursing home Residents' Bill of Rights set forth in §400.022, Fla. Stat., was expanded to its current form, and the accompanying enforcement provision of §400.023 was enacted in the wake of two critical Grand Jury reports and a series of scandals involving abuse and neglect of Florida nursing home residents. (See IB, App.A. and B) One of the Grand Jury reports graphically described nursing home deficiencies, including "rats in patients' beds and roaches in their food", and "lack of social, leisure, rehabilitative and therapeutic services; disregard for the personal dignity of residents; the use of chemical and physical restraints; and the lack of privacy". (See IB, App. B, at 75, and App. C, at 1) Florida's then-existing nursing home statutes were criticized as focusing too much on the structural aspects of nursing homes, while failing to adequately assess the quality of life in the nursing home.

The 1980 amendments were adopted to remedy the problem of "inadequate care and dehumanizing living conditions for frail older people". (See IB, App. C, at 1) The law was developed to address the major problems of financial exploitation, abuse,

neglect, and even death that resulted from substandard nursing home care and an ineffective regulatory scheme. The statute included a "private attorney general" provision, §400.023, which allowed for civil actions to enforce the resident's rights.

At the time of its enactment in 1980, §400.023 provided that:

Any resident whose rights as specified in this part are deprived or infringed upon shall have a cause of action against any licensee responsible for the violation. The action may be brought by the resident or his guardian or by a person or organization acting on behalf of the resident with the consent of the resident or his guardian, to enforce such rights.

§400.023, Fla. Stat. (1981).

At that time, Florida's survival statute, §46.021, Fla. Stat. (1997), had been a part of the Florida Statutes for almost thirty years. The survival statute provided that:

No cause of action dies with the person. All causes of action survive and may be commenced, prosecuted, and defended in the name of the person prescribed by law.

§46.021, Fla. Stat. (1997). Until the Fourth District's decision in *Beverly Enterprises-Florida, Inc. v. Knowles*, 24 Fla. L. Weekly D1986 (Fla. 4th DCA August 25, 1999), *rev'd en banc* 766 So.2d 335 (Fla. 4th DCA 2000) (Currently on review before this Court, case # SC00-1910), this statute preserved all causes of action for non-lethal violation of rights, in the event that the nursing home resident died from an unrelated cause. The personal representative could also bring a common law negligence action.

However, from 1980 to 1986, if the violation of rights had caused the death of the resident, the Wrongful Death Act would apply, and eliminate both the chapter 400 claim and the common law negligence claim.

Specifically, the Wrongful Death Act provides that "[w]hen a personal injury to the decedent results in his death, no action for personal injury shall survive, and any such action pending at the time of death shall abate." §768.20, Fla. Stat. (1997). If the Wrongful Death Act applied to a nursing home resident who was treated so badly that he or she died as a result of the deprivation or infringement of their rights, the Wrongful Death Act would abolish the §400.023 remedies, and replace them with a wrongful death action. Thus, the remedy provided in §400.023 would not survive the death of the resident, even though the cause of action is based upon a violation of the resident's statutory rights and not "personal injury."

The reason for enacting a distinct measure of damages for neglect and abuse of nursing home residents, however, is compelling. If damages were controlled by the Wrongful Death Act, in most cases those damages would be non-existent or negligible. Most nursing home residents are elderly, frail, retired, and have adult children. Many are incompetent and suffer from senile dementia. A very large percentage have no surviving spouse and an extremely limited life expectancy. Medical bills are usually paid by Medicare or Medicaid. There are no lost earnings.

There are no losses of net accumulations to the estate. There are no losses for support or services to family members; accordingly, there is no "replacement value" for those services. In fact, economically, the estate may *benefit* by the death of the nursing home resident because the death stops depletion of the estate's assets.

Accordingly, under the Wrongful Death Act, the damages recoverable in the event that the nursing home actually caused the death of the resident would be nonexistent or minuscule at best. It was, therefore, perfectly understandable that the legislature would not intend an economic benefit for causing the death of another. That benefit would arise from the application of the Wrongful Death Act to the cause of action created in §400.023. This issue was addressed by the Missouri Supreme Court with respect to their nursing home statute in Stiffelman v. Abrams, 655 S.W. 2d 522 (Mo. 1983). Missouri had passed a "private attorney general" provision as part of its resident's bill of rights that was identical in substance to Florida's §400.023. The Court noted that this provision was included based on the rationale "that government cannot do everything and that some requirements of the act can best be enforced by those most directly involved." Stiffelman, at 530. Similar provisions have also been enacted in New York, West Virginia, New Jersey, Massachusetts, Oklahoma and Ohio. Stiffelman, at 530, FN4.

The Court, faced with the very issue before this Court today, eloquently stated

its holding as follows:

We conclude that the legislature, in the exercise of its police power, cognizant of the deficiencies of traditional remedies, by the enactment of § 198.093 intended to provide a remedy for physical and emotional abuse in the nursing home, fatal as well as nonfatal. To conclude that the legislature did not intend to allow recovery for actual damages for intentional injuries inflicted on a resident and for the pain and suffering sustained by him as a result of said injuries when it turns out, as would be expected, that the injury ultimately produced his death, would lead to the same incongruity expressed by Professor Prosser in his comment on the rule announced in Baker v. Bolton, 1Camp. 483, 170 Eng. Rep. 1033 (K.B. 1808) that no cause of action existed at common law for death: "The result was that it was more profitable for the defendant to kill the plaintiff than to scratch him." W.Prosser, Handbook of the Law of Torts, § 127, at 902 (4th ed.1971)

Stiffelman, at 531.

Recognizing the flaw in its own civil enforcement provision, the Florida Legislature amended §400.023 in 1986 in order to permit a cause of action, under Chapter 400, when death resulted from the neglect or abuse, one which would not be subsumed by the Wrongful Death Act. The pertinent part of the amendment reads as follows:

The [§400.023] action may be brought by the resident...or by the personal representative of the estate of a deceased resident when the cause of death resulted from the deprivation or infringement of the decedent's rights.

The remedies provided in this section are in addition to and cumulative with other legal and administrative remedies available to a resident.....

§ 400.023, Fla. Stat. (1986) (emphasis supplied).

Representative Canady, in sponsoring the 1986 amendment, stated its purpose to create a direct cause of action under §400.023:

[T]here's an anomaly under the law in that if a nursing home resident is abused and they survive that they can bring a lawsuit. However, if they're abused so badly that they die, the cause of action is lost. So this bill would simply amend the statute to provide that the personal representative of the estate of a deceased nursing home resident would *also* be able to bring an *action under Chapter 400* to redress the rights of a deceased nursing home resident.

Beverly Enterprises Florida, Inc. v. Spilman, 661 So.2d 867 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995), rev. denied, 668 So.2d 602 (Fla. 1996) (emphasis supplied) (See Transcript of Record, S. App. 2). It is this direct action for lethal violations of rights under §400.023 (as opposed to Chapter 768), that was created in 1986.

In 1995, a nursing home decided to test the new amendment to Chapter 400 in the same manner that the defendants in the *Stiffelman* case had attempted to test the Missouri statute. The defendant contended that the Wrongful Death Act acted to prevent any recovery for pain and suffering damages of the decedent prior to his death when the deprivation or infringement of the resident's rights actually caused the death.

The Fifth District rejected the defendant's arguments, and in doing so, quoted with approval the amicus brief of the Office of State Long Term Care Ombudsman:

Under [the nursing home's] theory, it would be cheaper for a nursing home to kill its residents and thereby limit claims by personal representatives to the damages listed in the Wrongful Death Act. Such construction not only offends the strong public policy that nursing homes are to "promote maintenance or enhancement of the quality of life of each resident," but basic statutory construction. *See Williams v. State*, 492 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1986) (statutes should not be given a meaning that leads to an absurd or unreasonable result).

Spilman, supra at 869. This decision went undisturbed and unchallenged by either the legislature or any other district court of appeal until 1999, when the Fourth District Court of Appeal decided *First Healthcare Corp. v. Hamilton*, 747 So.2d 1189 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999), rev. dismissed, 743 So.2d 12 (Fla. 1999).

In *Hamilton*, a resident wandered away from a facility on several occasions before falling into a pond and drowning. The personal representative filed both a Chapter 400 claim and wrongful death claim on behalf of the survivor. The jury awarded \$1 million for the Chapter 400 violation, which included damages for the resident's pain and suffering from the time he fell into the canal until the time he died, a matter of a few minutes. A separate and much lower award was given to his wife under the wrongful death claim. The Fourth District found that the damages for the

resident's pain and suffering were eliminated by the Wrongful Death Act, but upheld the Chapter 400 claim for punitive damages and attorney's fees.

The *Hamilton* court distinguished the resident rights violations in that case from any issues "regarding medical diagnosis or treatment." In its decision, the *Hamilton* court recognized the *Spilman* decision and stated, "we hold, in direct conflict with *Spilman*, that the personal representative of a deceased nursing home resident, just as in the case of the personal representative of any deceased, may not recover damages for decedent's pain and suffering *arising from the same injuries causing death*" (emphasis supplied). *Hamilton*, at 1194.

The *Hamilton* court stated:

Thus, in the absence of any language in the 1986 amendment to Section 400.023 (F.S. 1995), which clearly and explicitly gives to the personal representative of a deceased nursing facility resident, a right of action for the deceased's pain and suffering when the death results in deprivation of the deceased's rights, we hold that the elements of damages recoverable by the personal representative of a deceased nursing home resident whose death results from deprivation of a deceased's rights are limited to those which a personal representative is specifically authorized to recover under the Wrongful Death Act.

Hamilton, at 1196.

The Hamilton court felt that allowing multiple actions and multiple claims for

pain and suffering were contrary to the legislative intent of the Wrongful Death Act. Moreover, the *Hamilton* court felt that awarding compensatory damages to the survivors was enough to effectuate the purpose of the statute, and did not make it cheaper for the nursing home to kill its residents than to torture them. At no point did the *Hamilton* court consider circumstances where a survivor did not exist, or was not statutorily recognized.

While conflict between the two cases was originally certified to this Court, the parties settled the underlying dispute, so the conflict has yet to be resolved. Forced to choose between the *Hamilton* and *Spilman* decisions in the instant case, the trial court chose the *Hamilton* decision, thus eliminating any possible recovery for the personal representative of the estate. The district disagreed, and chose to follow *Spilman* instead.

B. Statutory Construction

When one applies the basic rules of statutory construction, it is easy to see that under all the circumstances, the *Spilman* court's interpretation of the statute is the correct one. The starting point for our statutory analysis is set forth quite nicely by this Court in its recent decision in *Irven v. Department of Health and Rehabilitative Services*, 26 Fla. L. Weekly S253 (Fla. April 19, 2001). *Irven* stated that even when an act is in derogation of the common law, it should not automatically be strictly construed, as the petitioner requests. When the act is remedial in nature, the act should be accorded a liberal construction so as to effectuate the legislative intent. Clearly, Chapter 400 and §400.023 are remedial in nature, and therefore should be liberally construed.

We do agree with the petitioner's contention that §400.023 and the Wrongful Death Act should be read *in pari materia*. Where we differ, however, is over the result of reading these two statutes in harmony. These two separate causes of action can exist in harmony because they are fundamentally different and independent causes of action. They each provide different and distinct remedies. Importantly, §400.023 also expressly provides: "The remedies provided in this section *are in addition to and cumulative with* other legal and administrative remedies available to a resident." §400.023, Fla.Stat. (1986). (emphasis supplied)

Section 400.023 provides that the estate may recover actual and punitive damages for any deprivation or infringement of the rights of a resident, attorney's fees, and costs of the action. The Wrongful Death Statute, on the other hand, allows the survivors of the decedent to recover for loss of support and services, for loss of the decedent's companionship and protection, for mental pain and suffering, for medical and funeral expenses, and for loss of net accumulations of the estate. §768.21, Fla. Stat. (1997).

It is axiomatic that these two statutes can exist in harmony, as they provide for different damages arising form different remedies. They do not limit each other in any way. By reading these statutes in harmony, the Court may also effectuate another basic tenet of statutory construction -- that the legislature is presumed to not enact meaningless law. *Williams v. State*, 492 So.2d 1051 (Fla. 1986). If the *Hamilton* court's interpretation is correct, then the Florida Legislature accomplished a useless act by amending Chapter 400 in 1986 to allow a personal representative to bring a claim, because the damages recoverable under this claim would be identical to those that were recoverable prior to the amendment, namely, only those damages provided for under the Wrongful Death Act. Critically, The *Hamilton* court completely ignored the last line of §400.023, which states that this section *is in addition to and cumulative with all other remedies*. This is simply a codification of the general rule that statutes

are to be read in harmony, unless they conflict. The import of this language is simply that this statute does not conflict with any other remedies, legal or administrative.

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